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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
 
 
Board of Directors 
BNCCORP, INC. and Subsidiaries 
Bismarck, North Dakota 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of BNCCORP, INC. and 
Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and 
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of BNCCORP, INC. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2023 and 
2022, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of BNCCORP, INC. and Subsidiaries and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
As discussed in Note 1 of the financial statements, effective January 1, 2023, BNCCORP, INC. and 
Subsidiaries adopted new accounting guidance for the measurement of credit losses on financial 
instruments through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings. Our opinion is not modified 
with respect to this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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Board of Directors 
BNCCORP, INC. and Subsidiaries 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there 
are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about BNCCORP, 
INC. and Subsidiaries’ ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the 
consolidated financial statements are available to be issued. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 

 
  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of BNCCORP, INC. and Subsidiaries’ internal control. Accordingly, 
no such opinion is expressed. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about BNCCORP, INC. and Subsidiaries’ ability to continue as a 
going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Board of Directors 
BNCCORP, INC. and Subsidiaries 

 

Other Information Included in the Annual Report 
Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other 
information comprises selected financial data, operating strategy, management’s discussion and 
analysis of financial condition and results of operations, and quantitative and qualitative disclosures 
about market risk but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information, and 
we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information 
and the consolidated financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of 
the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 
 
 
 

 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 
March 14, 2024 
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BNCCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

As of December 31, 
(In thousands, except share data) 

 

 2023  2022 

ASSETS      

Cash and cash equivalents $ 102,454  $ 73,968 

Debt securities available for sale  159,772   174,876 

Federal Reserve Bank and Federal Home Loan Bank stock  2,372   3,063 

Loans held for sale-mortgage banking  -   37,764 

Loans held for investment  668,808   616,645 

    Allowance for credit losses (1)   (9,284)   (8,831) 

        Net loans held for investment   659,524   607,814 

Premises and equipment, net   10,955   11,764 

Operating lease right of use asset  938   1,521 

Accrued interest receivable  4,206   3,312 

Other  27,984   29,239 

                       Total assets $ 968,205  $ 943,321 

      

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY      

LIABILITIES:      

    Deposits:      

        Non-interest-bearing  $ 184,442  $ 207,232 

        Interest-bearing –      

            Savings, interest checking and money market  582,855   554,577 

            Time deposits  69,906   57,775 

                Total deposits  837,203   819,584 

    Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in Company’s subordinated 

debentures  15,464   15,000 

    Accrued interest payable  937   312 

    Accrued expenses  4,105   5,482 

    Operating lease liabilities  1,048   1,660 

    Other  1,030   937 

                       Total liabilities  859,787   842,975 

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:      

Common stock, $.01 par value – Authorized 11,300,000 shares; 3,569,210 

and 3,559,334 shares issued and outstanding  36   36 

    Capital surplus – common stock    26,572   26,399 

    Retained earnings   93,186   87,575 

    Treasury stock (99,443 and 109,319  shares, respectively)  (1,528)   (1,622) 

    Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net   (9,848)   (12,042) 

                       Total stockholders’ equity   108,418   100,346 

                       Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 968,205  $ 943,321 

(1) The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 as of January 1, 2023. The prior year amounts presented are calculated under the prior accounting standard. 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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BNCCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Income 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

 

 2023  2022 

INTEREST INCOME:      
    Interest and fees on loans  $ 35,582  $ 27,749 

    Interest and dividends on investments      
        Taxable   7,534   5,487 

        Tax-exempt   19   230 

        Dividends   143   147 

                Total interest income   43,278   33,613 

INTEREST EXPENSE:      
    Deposits   9,949   2,163 

    Short-term borrowings   -   1 

    Federal Home Loan Bank advances  5   3 

    Subordinated debentures   1,014   488 

                Total interest expense   10,968   2,655 

                Net interest income   32,310   30,958 

PROVISION (CREDIT) FOR CREDIT LOSSES (1)  815   (150) 

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER PROVISION (CREDIT) FOR CREDIT 

LOSSES  31,495   31,108 

NON-INTEREST INCOME:      
    Bank charges and service fees    3,615   3,719 

    Wealth management revenues  1,948   1,981 

    Mortgage banking revenues, net  3,771   11,459 

    Gains on sales of loans, net   16   262 

    Gains on sales of debt securities, net  12   - 

    Other   642   1,707 

                Total non-interest income  10,004   19,128 

NON-INTEREST EXPENSE:      
    Salaries and employee benefits  17,517   21,194  

    Professional services  3,419   3,584  

    Data processing fees  3,722   3,952  

    Marketing and promotion  3,127   5,660  

    Occupancy  1,785   2,192  

    Regulatory costs  470   468  

    Depreciation and amortization  1,094   1,231  

    Office supplies and postage  415   425  

    Other   2,634   3,201  

                Total non-interest expense  34,183   41,907  

Income before income taxes  7,316   8,329  

Income tax expense  1,611   1,829  

Net income  $ 5,705  $ 6,500  

Basic earnings per common share $ 1.59  $ 1.82  

Diluted earnings per common share $ 1.59  $ 1.82  

(1) The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 as of January 1, 2023. The prior year amounts presented are calculated under the prior accounting standard. 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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BNCCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

(In thousands) 
 

 2023  2022 

NET INCOME     $        5,705  

 

    $  6,500  

   Unrealized gain (loss) on debt securities 

available for sale $     2,922      $  (20,154)    
   Reclassification adjustment for gains on sales of 

securities, net, included in net income          (12)         -        

         Other comprehensive income (loss) before 

tax      2,910           (20,154)       

Income tax (expense) benefit related to items of 

other comprehensive income        (716)         4,958        

Other comprehensive income (loss) $     2,194           2,194   $  (15,196)    (15,196) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)     $        7,899       $  (8,696) 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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 BNCCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

(In thousands, except share data) 

 

       Capital        Accumulated    

      Surplus        Other    

  Common Stock  Common  Retained  Treasury  Comprehensive    

  Shares Amount  Stock  Earnings  Stock  Income (Loss), net  Total 

BALANCE, December 31, 2021  3,554,983 $ 36  $ 26,068  $ 87,378  $ (1,650)  $ 3,154  $ 114,986 

Net income   -  -   -   6,500   -   -   6,500 

Other comprehensive loss  -  -   -   -   -   (15,196)   (15,196) 

Share-based compensation  4,351  -   331   -   28   -   359 

Dividends declared on common stock 

($1.75)  -  -   -   (6,303)   -   -   (6,303) 

BALANCE, December 31, 2022  3,559,334 $ 36  $ 26,399  $ 87,575  $ (1,622)  $ (12,042)  $ 100,346 

Cumulative effect adjustment for 

adoption of ASU 2016-13, 

Measurement of Credit Losses on 
Financial Instruments  -  -   -   (94)   -   -   (94) 

Net income   -  -   -   5,705   -   -   5,705 

Other comprehensive income  -  -   -   -   -   2,194   2,194 

Share-based compensation  9,876  -   173   -   94   -   267 

BALANCE, December 31, 2023  3,569,210 $ 36  $ 26,572  $ 93,186  $ (1,528)  $ (9,848)  $ 108,418 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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 BNCCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES    

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

(In thousands) 

 

 2023  2022 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:      

Net income  $          5,705   $ 6,500  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 

activities -      

Provision (credit) for credit losses (1)             815    (150) 

Depreciation           1,094    1,231  

 Amortization of right of use assets             566    788 

 Net amortization of premiums and (discounts) on debt securities and 

subordinated debentures            1,522    3,212  

Share-based compensation              267    359  

Change in accrued interest receivable and other assets, net             (469)   1,289  

Loss on sale of bank premises and equipment             144   19 

       Net realized gain on sales of debt securities   (12)   - 

Deferred tax (benefit) expense              (76)   634  

Change in other liabilities, net         (1,214)   (1,529) 

Funding of loans held for sale, mortgage banking      (439,449)   (1,032,827) 

Proceeds from sales of loans held for sale, mortgage banking       477,272    1,074,326  

Fair value adjustment for loans held for sale, mortgage banking               52    1,592  

Fair value adjustment on mortgage banking derivatives             409    1,077  

Proceeds from sales of loans                  -    1,096  

Gains on sales of loans, net              (16)   (262) 

Gains on sales of assets held for sale                  -    (532) 

Net cash provided by operating activities         46,610    56,823  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:      

Purchases of debt securities available for sale         (9,555)   (19,562) 

       Proceeds from sales of debt securities available for sale           9,483    - 

Proceeds from maturities of debt securities available for sale         16,575    30,298  

Purchases of Federal Reserve and Federal Home Loan Bank Stock          (1,640)   (1,717) 

Sales of Federal Reserve and Federal Home Loan Bank Stock            2,331    1,750  

Net increase in loans held for investment       (52,508)   (87,784) 

Proceeds from sales of premises and equipment              102    5 

Purchases of premises and equipment             (531)   (518) 

Net cash used in investing activities        (35,743)   (77,528) 

(1) The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 as of January 1, 2023. The prior year amounts presented are calculated under the prior accounting standard. 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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BNCCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, continued 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

(In thousands) 

 

 2023  2022 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:      

Net increase (decrease) in deposits $        17,619  $ (87,084) 

Repayments of Federal Home Loan Bank advances       (41,001)   (42,910) 

Proceeds from Federal Home Loan Bank advances         41,001    42,910  

Dividends paid on common stock                  -    (6,303) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities          17,619    (93,387) 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE)  IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS          28,486    (114,092) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period         73,968    188,060  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of period $      102,454   $ 73,968  

      

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:      

Interest paid $        10,344   $ 2,569  

Income taxes paid (refunded) $          1,457   $ (19)  

      

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:      

Additions to repossessed assets in the settlement of loans $                101   $ 79 

Right of use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations $            340   $ 167 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BNCCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

 

 

 
NOTE 1. Description of Business and Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Description of Business 

BNCCORP, INC. (“BNCCORP”) is a registered bank holding company incorporated under the laws of Delaware. 
It is the parent company of BNC National Bank (the “Bank”). BNC National Bank operates community banking 
and wealth management businesses through 11 locations in North Dakota and Arizona. During 2023, the Bank 
conducted mortgage banking through a consumer-direct channel complemented by relationship based retail 
channels. The consumer direct channel emphasized technology (internet leads and call center) to originate mortgage 
loans throughout the United States. The retail channel is primarily relationship driven and originations are generally 
near mortgage banking locations. On June 16, 2023, the Company sold certain operating assets and assigned certain 
liabilities related to the Company’s mortgage segment to First Federal Bank. 
 
With respect to group concentrations of credit risk, most of the Company’s business activity is with customers in 
North Dakota. At December 31, 2023, the Company did not have any significant credit concentrations in any 
particular industry. 
 
The consolidated financial statements included herein are for BNCCORP and subsidiaries. The accounting and 
reporting policies of BNCCORP and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) conform to U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) and general practices within the financial services industry. The more significant 
accounting policies are summarized below. 
 

Principles of Consolidation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of BNCCORP and its wholly owned 

subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. 

 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 

during the reporting period. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the allowance for 

credit losses, fair value measurements for financial instruments, and income taxes. Ultimate results could materially 

differ from those estimates. 

 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash due from banks and federal funds sold. 

 
Debt Securities 

Debt securities that the Bank intends to hold indefinitely as part of its asset/liability strategy, or that may be sold in 

response to changes in interest rates, liquidity needs, or prepayment risk are classified as available for sale. Available 

for sale securities are carried at fair value. Net unrealized gains and losses, net of deferred income taxes, on securities 

available for sale are reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity until realized (see Comprehensive 

Income (Loss)). 

 

Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted over the life of the related security as an adjustment to yield 

using the effective interest method. For callable securities purchased at a premium, such premium is amortized over 

the period to the earliest call date. Dividend and interest income is recognized when earned. Realized gains and 

losses on the sale of debt securities are determined using the specific-identification method and recognized in non-

interest income on the trade date. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

 

 

 
Federal Reserve Bank and Federal Home Loan Bank 

Investments in Federal Reserve Bank and Federal Home Loan Bank stock qualify as restricted stock, which is not 

subject to equity security accounting treatment, and is reported at cost, subject to impairment. 

 

Loans Held For Sale-Mortgage Banking 
Loans held for sale-mortgage banking are accounted for at fair value pursuant to the fair value option permitted by 

ASC 825, Financial Instruments. Gains and losses from the changes in fair value are included in mortgage banking 

revenues, net. 

 

Loans Held For Investment 

Loans held for investment are stated at their outstanding principal amount net of unearned income, unamortized 

deferred fees and costs, and an allowance for credit losses. Interest income is recognized on the accrual basis using 

the interest method prescribed in the loan agreement except when collectibility is in doubt. 

 

Loans are reviewed regularly by management and are placed on non-accrual status when the collection of interest 

or principal is 90 days or more past due, unless the loan is adequately secured and in the process of collection. When 

a loan is placed on non-accrual status, interest accrued and uncollected is reversed against interest income in the 

current period. Interest payments received on non-accrual loans are generally applied to principal unless the 

remaining principal balance has been determined to be fully collectible. Accrual of interest may be resumed when 

it is determined that all amounts due are expected to be collected and the loan has exhibited a sustained level of 

performance, generally at least six months. 

 

Loan Origination Fees and Costs; Other Lending Fees 

For Loans Held for Investment, origination fees and costs incurred to extend credit are deferred and amortized over 

the term of the loan as an adjustment to yield using the interest method, except where the net amount is deemed to 

be immaterial. 

 

The Company occasionally originates lines of credit where the customer is charged a non-usage fee if the line of 

credit is not used. In such instances, the Company periodically reviews use of lines on a retrospective basis and 

recognizes non-usage fees in non-interest income. 

 

Loan Servicing and Transfers of Financial Assets 

The Bank sells commercial business loans to third parties. The loans are generally sold on a non-recourse basis. 

Subsequent to the sale, the loans continue to be serviced by the Bank. Sold loans are not included in the 

accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

 

The sales of loans are accounted for pursuant to ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets. 

 

The Bank originated certain residential mortgage loans with the intent to sell to secondary market investors. The 

mortgage servicing rights associated with these loans were sold to third parties. 

 

Allowance for Credit Losses  

The Company’s allowance for credit losses is comprised of an allowance for loans held for investment and an 

allowance for unfunded commitments. The Company is required to estimate the credit losses expected over the life 

of the loan. The measurement of expected credit losses is based on relevant information about past events, including 

historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the estimated 

collectibility of the loan portfolio. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

 

 

Allowance for Credit Losses – Loans Held for Investment 

The Company’s methodology for estimating the allowance for credit losses is applied consistently to the loan 

portfolio. The following identifies the methodology by which the Company estimates the allowance for credit 

losses: 

 

Collective Pools. The Company makes a significant number of loans that, due to their underlying similar 

characteristics, are assessed for loss as “collective” pools. The Bank segments the pools by type of loan and 

using historical loss and peer group loss information estimates an expected credit loss for each individual 

loan or lease within the pool. Historical loss rates are derived by tracking the historical net charge-offs. The 

historical loss rates for each type of loan are then averaged to calculate an overall loss rate, which is applied 

to the current loan balance. Loans of this nature are generally internally designated as a “pass” rated credit. 

Loans within this category are identified and segmented based on internal loan type. Each loan is then given 

a historical loss rate based on its identified loan type, which is then applied to the life of the loan. Loss rates 

for each loan type are determined by comparing the Company’s historic loss rates and peer loss rates. The 

maximum loss rate for each loan type becomes the loss rate utilized. 

 

Collective Risk Grade. The Company has loans where the risk grade classification deteriorates below an 

internally assigned grade of “pass”. In these cases, the Company generally experiences higher historical 

loss rates and expects the credit losses on the contractual balance to increase. Loans in this category are 

pooled by risk grade and historic loss rates are applied to the contractual balances of each individual loan 

or lease. Loss rates are established based on the Company’s historic loss rates for criticized loans. This loss 

rate is then applied to each loan which maintains a risk rating below “pass”. Loans that fall within the 

collective risk grade segment are not included in the collective pool segment. 

 

Individual Reserves. The Company estimates reserves for individually evaluated loans through a loan-by-

loan analysis of problem loans that considers expected future cash flows, the value of collateral and other 

factors that may impact the borrower’s ability to make payments when due.  Included in this group are loans 

in nonaccrual status or modified loans. Individual reserves are determined through evaluation of collateral 

values, expected future cash flow and other factors that may impact the borrower’s ability to make 

contractual payments. An individual reserve is then applied to individual loans based on the level of 

expected loss. Loans evaluated within the individual reserve segment are excluded from all other segments. 

 

Qualitative / Forecast Reserve. The Company also considers qualitative adjustments to the quantitative 

baseline. Utilizing a framework based on the Interagency Policy Statement on Allowance for Credit Losses, 

the Company considers prevailing and anticipated economic trends, such as current and forecasted 

economic conditions, economic trends, an assessment of credit risk inherent in the loan portfolio, and 

delinquency trends. The Company also considers information to the extent the Company expects current 

conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts to differ from the conditions that existed for the period 

over which historical information was evaluated. The Company maintains a scorecard that includes nine 

qualitative factors and performs a review on a quarterly basis. Upon evaluation of the qualitative factors, a 

qualitative loss rate will be established and applied to all loans outside of those included in the Individual 

Reserve component. The Company’s forecast period is generally 1 to 2 years. 

 

Allowance for Credit Losses – Unfunded Commitments 

The allowance for unfunded commitments represents the expected credit losses on off-balance sheet commitments, 

such as commitments to extend credit and financial standby letters of credit. The allowance for unfunded 

commitments included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The allowance for unfunded 

commitments is determined by estimating future draws and applying the expected loss rates on those draws. Future 

draws are based on historical utilization rates along with individual assessment for specific loan types. Loss rates 

are estimated through the same methodology as defined within the “collective pools” segment of the allowance for 

loans held for investment. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

 

 

Allowance for Credit Losses – Debt Securities Available for Sale 

The Company’s evaluation first assesses whether it intends to sell, or it is more likely than not that it will be required 

to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If either criteria is met, the security’s amortized cost 

basis is written down to fair value through income. For AFS debt securities that do not meet the aforementioned 

criteria, the Company evaluates whether the decline in fair value has resulted from credit losses or other factors. In 

making this assessment, management considers the extent to which fair value is less than amortized cost, any 

changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency, and adverse conditions specifically related to the security, 

among other factors. If this assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected 

to be collected from the security are compared to the amortized cost basis of the security. If the present value of 

cash flows expected to be collected is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists and an allowance for 

credit losses is recorded for the credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost 

basis. Changes in the allowance for credit losses are recorded as a provision for (or reversal of) credit losses and 

can change over time. 

 

The Company does not believe that the debt securities available for sale that were in an unrealized loss position as 

of December 31, 2023 represent a credit loss impairment. As of December 31, 2023, the gross unrealized loss 

positions were primarily related to mortgage-backed securities issued by U.S. government agencies or U.S. 

government-sponsored enterprises. These securities carry the explicit and/or implicit guarantee of the U.S. 

government and have a history of zero credit loss. Total gross unrealized losses were attributable to changes in 

interest rates, relative to when the investment securities were purchased, and not due to the credit quality of the debt 

securities. The Company does not intend to sell the debt securities that were in an unrealized loss position and it is 

unlikely that the Company will be required to sell the debt securities before recovery of their amortized cost basis, 

which may be at maturity. 

 
Other Real Estate Owned and Repossessed Assets, net 

Real estate properties and other assets acquired through loan foreclosures are recorded at fair value less estimated 

costs to sell. If the carrying amount of an asset acquired through foreclosure is in excess of the fair value less 

estimated costs to sell, the excess amount is charged to the allowance for credit losses. Fair value is primarily 

determined based upon appraisals of the assets involved and management periodically assesses appraised values to 

ascertain continued relevancy of the valuation. If subsequent declines in fair value in excess of the carrying amount 

of foreclosed assets are identified, the Company establishes a valuation allowance against the asset. Net operating 

income from and gains on disposition of these assets are included in other non-interest income. Net operating 

expenses, losses on disposition, and subsequent declines in the estimated fair value of these assets are charged to 

other non-interest expense. 

 
Premises and Equipment 

Land is carried at cost. Premises and equipment are reported at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. 

Depreciation and amortization for financial reporting purposes is charged to non-interest expense using the straight-

line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Estimated useful lives are up to forty years for buildings 

and three to ten years for furniture and equipment. Leasehold improvements are capitalized and amortized over the 

shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the improvement. Maintenance and repairs, as well as gains 

and losses on dispositions of premises and equipment, are included in non-interest income or expense as incurred. 

 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment periodically or whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of any such asset may not be recoverable. The impairment review 

includes a comparison of future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) expected to be generated 

by the assets to their current carrying value. If impairment is identified, the assets are written down to their fair 

value through a charge to non-interest expense. 
 

Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase 

From time to time, the Bank enters into sales of securities under agreements to repurchase, generally for periods of 

less than 90 days. These agreements are treated as financings, and the obligations to repurchase securities sold are 
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reflected as a liability in the consolidated balance sheets as short-term borrowings. The costs of securities underlying 

the agreements remain in the asset accounts. 

 
Fair Value 
Several accounting standards require recording assets and liabilities based on their fair values. Determining the fair 

value of assets and liabilities can be highly subjective. The Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize 

the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. The Company 

determines fair value based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability in the 

principal or most advantageous market. 

 

ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, defines fair value and establishes a framework for measuring fair value of 

assets and liabilities using a hierarchy system consisting of three levels based on the markets in which the assets 

and liabilities are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value. These levels are: 

 

 Level 1: Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets that the 

Company has the ability to access. 

 

 Level 2: Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for 

identical or similar instruments in markets that are less active, and model-based valuation techniques for 

which significant assumptions are observable in the market. 

 

 Level 3: Valuation is generated from model-based techniques that use significant assumptions not 

observable in the market and are used only to the extent that observable inputs are not available. These 

unobservable assumptions reflect the Company’s own estimates of assumptions that market participants 

would use in pricing the asset or liability. 

 

Management assigns levels to assets and liabilities accounted for at fair value. 

 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
The Company is required to disclose the estimated fair value of financial instruments. Fair value estimates are 

subjective in nature, involving uncertainties and matters of significant judgment, and therefore cannot be determined 

with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates. The following methods and 

assumptions are used by the Company in estimating fair value disclosures for its financial instruments. 

 

Debt Securities Available for Sale. The fair value of the Company’s securities, other than U.S. Treasury 

securities, are based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or 

similar instruments in markets that are less active, and model-based valuation techniques for which significant 

assumptions are observable in the market. U.S. Treasury securities are based upon quoted prices for identical 

instruments traded in active markets. 

 

Loans Held for Sale-Mortgage Banking. Loans held for sale-mortgage banking are accounted for at fair value 

pursuant to the fair value option permitted by ASC 825, Financial Instruments. Fair value measurements on 

loans held for sale are based on quoted market prices for similar loans in the secondary market, market quotes 

from anticipated sales contracts and commitments, or contract prices from firm sales commitments. 

 

Derivative Financial Instruments. The fair value of the Company’s derivatives are based upon quoted prices 

for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are 

less active, and model-based valuation techniques for which significant assumptions are observable in the 

market. 

 

Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk. The fair values of the Company’s commitments to 

extend credit and commercial and standby letters of credit are estimated using fees currently charged to enter 

into similar agreements. 
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Derivative Financial Instruments 

ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments, 

including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities. Accordingly, the 

Company records all derivatives at fair value. 

 

The Company enters into interest rate lock commitments on certain mortgage loans originated by its mortgage 

banking operations on a best efforts basis, which are commitments to originate loans whereby the interest rate on 

the loan is determined prior to funding. The Company also has corresponding forward sales contracts related to 

these interest rate lock commitments. Both the mortgage loan commitments and the related forward sales contracts 

are accounted for as derivatives and carried at fair value in other assets with changes in fair value recorded in 

mortgage banking revenues, net. 

 

The Company also commits to originate and sell certain loans through its mortgage banking operations on a 

mandatory delivery basis. To hedge interest rate risk, the Company sells short positions in mortgage backed 

securities related to the loans sold on a mandatory delivery basis. The commitments to originate and short positions 

are accounted for as derivatives and carried at fair value in other liabilities with changes in fair value recorded in 

mortgage banking revenues, net. 

 
Share-Based Compensation 

ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation, requires the Company to measure the cost of employee services 

received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the fair value of the award on the grant date. 

 

At December 31, 2023, the Company had two stock-based compensation plans, which are described more fully in 

Note 23 and Note 24 to these consolidated financial statements. 

 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The majority of the Company’s performance obligations for revenue from contracts with customers are satisfied at 

a point in time and are typically collected from customers at the time of the transaction or shortly thereafter. 

 

The following is a description of the principal activities from which the Company generates revenue that are within 

the scope of ASC 606: 

 

Service charges on deposits – Service charges on deposit accounts represent daily and monthly analysis fees 

recognized for the services related to customer deposit accounts, including account maintenance, overdraft 

fees, and depository transactions processing fees. Depository accounts charge fees in accordance with the 

customer’s pricing schedule or may be assessed a flat service fee per month. The Company satisfies the 

performance obligation related to providing depository accounts daily as transactions are processed and 

deposit service charge revenue is recognized daily. 

 

Bankcard fees – Bankcard fees primarily represent income earned from interchange revenue from Visa for 

the Company’s processing of debit card transactions. The performance obligation for interchange revenue is 

the processing of each transaction through the Company’s access to the banking system. This performance 

obligation is completed for each individual transaction and revenue is recognized per transaction in 

accordance with interchange rates established by Visa. 

 

Wealth management revenue – Wealth management revenue consists of fees earned on personal trust 

accounts, retirement plan administration, and wealth management services. The performance obligations 

related to this revenue include items such as performing trustee service administration, investment 

management services, custody and record-keeping services, and retirement plan administration. These fees 

are part of contractual agreements and the performance obligations are satisfied upon completion of services. 

The fees are generally a fixed-flat annual rate or based on a percentage of the account’s market value per the 

contract with the customer and revenue is recognized over time as earned. 
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Other income – The Company recognizes other miscellaneous income through a variety of other revenue 

streams, the most material of which includes revenue from investments in Small Business Investment 

Companies (SBIC), gains on sales of financial assets, and bank-owned life insurance income. These revenue 

streams are outside of the scope of ASC 606 and are recognized in accordance with the applicable U.S. 

GAAP. The remainder of other income is primarily earned through transactions with personal banking 

customers, including stop payment charges and fees for cashier’s checks. The performance obligations of 

these types of fees are satisfied as transactions are completed and revenue is recognized upon transaction 

execution according to established fee schedules with the customers. 

 

Note 15 to these consolidated financial statements includes disclosure of revenue from contracts with customers. 

 

Income Taxes 

The Company files consolidated federal and unitary state income tax returns where allowed. 

 

The determination of current and deferred income taxes is based on analyses of many factors including interpretation 

of federal and state income tax laws, differences between tax and financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities, 

expected reversals of temporary differences, estimates of amounts due or owed and current financial accounting 

standards. Actual results could differ significantly from the estimates and interpretations used in determining the 

current and deferred income taxes. 

 

Deferred income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 

statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those 

temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effects of changes in tax rates on deferred tax 

assets and liabilities are recognized in income in the period of enactment regardless of the balance sheet 

classification of the underlying deferred tax asset or liability. 

 

Management evaluates deferred tax assets to determine whether they are realizable based upon accounting standards 

and specific facts and circumstances. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets to amounts 

that are more likely than not expected to be realized. 

 

Earnings Per Share 

Basic earnings per share (EPS) excludes dilution and is computed by dividing income available to common 

stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the applicable period. Diluted 

EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were 

exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the 

earnings of the Company. Such potential dilutive instruments include stock options and contingently issuable stock. 

Note 21 to these consolidated financial statements includes disclosure of the Company’s EPS calculations. 

 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Comprehensive income (loss) is the total of net income and other comprehensive income (loss), which for the 

Company, is generally comprised of unrealized gains and losses on securities available for sale, net of corresponding 

tax effects. 

 
Subsequent Events 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Company has evaluated events and transactions for 

potential recognition or disclosure through March 14, 2024, the date the consolidated financial statements were 

available to be issued. 
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RECENTLY ISSUED OR ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS & 

INTERPRETATIONS 

 

ASU No. 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, replaces the current incurred loss 

methodology for recognizing credit losses with a current expected credit loss model, which requires the 

measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical 

experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. This amended guidance broadens the 

information that an entity must consider in developing its expected credit loss estimates. Additionally, this update 

amends the accounting for credit losses for available-for-sale debt securities and purchased financial assets with a 

more-than-insignificant amount of credit deterioration since origination. This update requires enhanced disclosures 

to help investors and other financial statement users better understand significant estimates and judgments used in 

estimating credit losses, as well as the credit quality and underwriting standards of a company’s loan portfolio. This 

update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022.  

 

The Company adopted the standard on January 1, 2023, and applied the standard as a cumulative effect adjustment 

to retained earnings. At adoption, the Company recorded a $125 thousand increase to the allowance for credit losses, 

which was comprised of a $64 thousand decrease in the allowance for loan losses and a $189 thousand increase to 

the allowance for unfunded commitments. The after-tax impact resulted in a $94 thousand decrease to retained 

earnings. The tax effect resulted in an increase to deferred tax assets.  

 

ASU No. 2022-02, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage 

Disclosures, eliminates the accounting guidance for TDRs by creditors in ASC 310-40, Receivables – Troubled 

Debt Restructurings by Creditors, in its entirety and requires entities to evaluate all receivable modifications under 

ASC 310-20-35-9 through 35-11 to determine whether a modification made to a borrower results in a new loan or 

a continuation of the existing loan. For entities that have already adopted ASU 2016-13, the amendments in ASU 

2022-02 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those 

fiscal years. For entities that have not yet adopted ASU 2016-13, the amendments in ASU 2022-02 are effective 

upon adoption of ASU 2016-13. The Company adopted the standard on January 1, 2023 and the adoption did not 

have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financials. 
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NOTE 2. Debt Securities Available For Sale 

 

Debt securities have been classified in the consolidated balance sheets according to management’s intent. The 

Company had no securities designated as trading or held-to-maturity in its portfolio at December 31, 2023, or 2022. 

The amortized cost of debt securities available for sale and their estimated fair values were as follows as of 

December 31 (in thousands): 

 

 2023 

    Gross  Gross  Estimated 

 Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized  Fair 

 Cost  Gains  Losses  Value 

U.S. treasury securities $ 25,872   $  

                  

-    $  (992)   $  24,880 

U.S. government sponsored entity mortgage-

backed securities issued by FNMA/FHLMC  21,282   

                  

-    (3,187)   18,095 

U.S. government agency small business 

administration pools guaranteed by SBA  12,020   

                  

-    (755)   11,265 

Collateralized mortgage obligations 

guaranteed by GNMA  8,051   

                  

-    (287)   7,764 

Collateralized mortgage obligations issued by 

FNMA/FHLMC  55,750   

                  

-    (4,860)   50,890 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 

issued by FHLMC  16,927   

                  

-    (1,213)   15,714 

Other commercial mortgage-backed securities  26,349   -   (2,136)   24,213 

State and municipal bonds   8,062   -   (1,111)   6,951 

 $ 174,313  $ -  $ (14,541)  $ 159,772 

            

 2022 

    Gross  Gross  Estimated 

 Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized  Fair 

 Cost  Gains  Losses  Value 

U.S. treasury securities $ 19,864  $ -  $ (1,828)  $ 18,036 

U.S. government sponsored entity mortgage-

backed securities issued by FNMA/FHLMC  23,485   -   (3,338)   20,147 

U.S. government agency small business 

administration pools guaranteed by SBA  15,572   -   (1,191)   14,381 

Collateralized mortgage obligations 

guaranteed by GNMA  10,096   -   (338)   9,758 

Collateralized mortgage obligations issued by 

FNMA/FHLMC  64,285   -   (5,533)   58,752 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 

issued by FHLMC  17,557   -   (1,476)   16,081 

Other commercial mortgage-backed securities  27,906   -   (2,617)   25,289 

State and municipal bonds  13,562   341   (1,471)   12,432 

 $ 192,327  $ 341  $ (17,792)  $ 174,876 

 

The Company elected to exclude accrued interest receivable from the amortized cost basis of debt securities 

available for sale throughout this footnote. Total accrued interest receivable for debt securities was $700 thousand 

as of December 31, 2023 and is included in the accrued interest receivable line item on the Company’s consolidated 

balance sheets. 
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securities available for sale classified according to their 

contractual maturities at December 31, 2023, were as follows (in thousands): 

 

 Amortized  Estimated 

 Cost  Fair Value 

Due in one year or less $                 14,970    $                 14,931  

Due after one year through five years                  22,562                   21,049  

Due after five years through ten years                  21,334                   19,931  

Due after ten years                115,447                  103,861  

      Total $               174,313    $               159,772  

 

The table above is not intended to reflect actual maturities, cash flows or interest rate risk. Actual maturities may 

differ from the contractual maturities shown above as a result of prepayments. 

 

Debt securities available for sale with estimated fair values of $41.1 million and $46.4 million at December 31, 

2023, and 2022, respectively, were pledged as collateral for public and trust deposits and borrowings, including 

borrowings from the FHLB and repurchase agreements with customers. 

 

Sales proceeds and gross realized gains and losses on available for sale securities were as follows for the years 

ended December 31 (in thousands): 

 

 2023  2022 

Sales proceeds $      9,483   $ - 

      

Gross realized gains $         382   $ - 

Gross realized losses        (370)   - 

Net realized gains $            12   $ - 
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The following table shows the Company’s gross unrealized losses and fair value of debt securities available for sale 

aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized 

loss position at December 31 (in thousands): 

 

 2023 

 Less Than 12 Months  12 Months or More  Total 

Description of   Fair  Unrealized    Fair  Unrealized    Fair  Unrealized 

Securities #  Value  Loss  #  Value  Loss  #  Value  Loss 

U.S. treasury securities 
    

1   

 

$  

      

9,963   

 

$  

           

(6)  

    

4   

 

$  

    

14,917   

 

$  

       

(986)  

    

5   

 

$  

    

24,880   $ 

       

(992) 

U.S. government sponsored entity 

mortgage-backed securities 

issued by FNMA/FHLMC 
    

-                -                 -   

    

8    

    

18,095    

     

(3,187)  

    

8    

    

18,095    

     

(3,187) 

U.S. government agency small 

business administration pools 

guaranteed by SBA 

    

-                -                 -   

    

4    

    

11,265    

       

(755)  

    

4    

    

11,265    

       

(755) 

Collateralized mortgage 

obligations guaranteed by 

GNMA 

    

-                -                 -   

    

8    

      

7,764    

       

(287)  

    

8    

      

7,764    

       

(287) 

Collateralized mortgage 

obligations issued by 

FNMA/FHLMC 

    

1            175    

           

(2)  

  

18    

    

50,715    

     

(4,858)  

  

19    

    

50,890    

     

(4,860) 

Commercial mortgage-backed 

securities issued by FHLMC 

    

-                -                 -   

    

3    

    

15,714    

     

(1,213)  

    

3    

    

15,714    

     

(1,213) 

Other commercial mortgage-

backed securities 

    

-                -                 -   

  

11    

    

24,213    

     

(2,136)  

  

11    

    

24,213    

     

(2,136) 

State and municipal bonds  -      -      -   2      6,951       (1,111)  2      6,951       (1,111) 

Total temporarily impaired 

securities 

    

2    

 

$  

    

10,138    

 

$  

           

(8)  

  

58    

 

$  

  

149,634    

 

$  

   

(14,533)  

  

60    

 

$  

  

159,772    

 

$  

   

(14,541) 

 

 2022 

 Less Than 12 Months  12 Months or More  Total 

Description of   Fair  Unrealized    Fair  Unrealized    Fair  Unrealized 

Securities #  Value  Loss  #  Value  Loss  #  Value  Loss 

U.S. treasury securities 1  $ 4,817   $   (185)  3   $  13,219   $  (1,643)  4   $  18,036   $ (1,828) 

U.S. government sponsored entity 

mortgage-backed securities 

issued by FNMA/FHLMC 2    2,092    (109)  6    18,055    (3,229)  8    20,147    (3,338) 

U.S. government agency small 

business administration pools 

guaranteed by SBA -    -    -   4    14,381    (1,191)  4    14,381    (1,191) 

Collateralized mortgage 

obligations guaranteed by 

GNMA 8    9,758    (338)  -    -    -   8    9,758    (338) 

Collateralized mortgage 

obligations issued by 

FNMA/FHLMC 14    34,501    (1,186)  5    24,251    (4,347)  19    58,752    (5,533) 

Commercial mortgage-backed 

securities issued by FHLMC 2    12,312    (816)  1    3,769    (660)  3    16,081    (1,476) 

Other commercial mortgage-

backed securities 7   18,458    (1,157)  4    6,831    (1,460)  11    25,289    (2,617) 

State and municipal bonds  3      9,550      (1,471)  -      -      -   3      9,550      (1,471) 

Total temporarily impaired 

securities 37    

 

$  91,488    

 

$  (5,262)  23    

 

$  80,506    

 

$  (12,530)  60    

 

$  171,994    

 

$  (17,792) 

 

The Company does not believe that the debt securities available for sale that were in an unrealized loss position as 

of December 31, 2023 represent a credit loss impairment. As of December 31, 2023, the gross unrealized loss 

positions were primarily related to mortgage-backed securities issued by U.S. government agencies or U.S. 
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government-sponsored enterprises. These securities carry the explicit and/or implicit guarantee of the U.S. 

government and have a history of zero credit loss. Total gross unrealized losses were attributable to changes in 

interest rates, relative to when the investment securities were purchased, and not due to the credit quality of the debt 

securities. The Company does not intend to sell the debt securities that were in an unrealized loss position and it is 

unlikely that the Company will be required to sell the debt securities before recovery of their amortized cost basis, 

which may be at maturity. 

  

At December 31, 2022, management evaluated each debt security with unrealized losses to determine whether losses 

are other-than-temporary. When determining whether a debt security is other-than-temporarily impaired, 

management assesses whether it has the intent to sell the debt security or whether it is more likely than not that it 

will be required to sell the debt security before a recovery of amortized cost. 

 

There were no debt securities that management concluded were other-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 

2022. 

 

NOTE 3. Federal Reserve Bank and Federal Home Loan Bank Stock 

 

The carrying amounts of FRB and FHLB stock, which approximate their fair values, consisted of the following as 

of December 31 (in thousands): 
 

 2023  2022 

Federal Reserve Bank stock, at cost $ 1,807  $ 1,807  

Federal Home Loan Bank, at cost  565   1,256  

  Total $ 2,372  $ 3,063  

 

NOTE 4. Loans 
 

The composition of loans is as follows at December 31 (in thousands): 
 

 2023  2022 

      

Loans held for sale-mortgage banking $                   -   $ 37,764  

      

Commercial and industrial $      216,055   $ 205,429  

Commercial real estate       245,939    230,243  

SBA         63,836    48,638  

Consumer       111,872    95,891  

Land and land development            8,416    10,758  

Construction         21,648    24,690  

Gross loans held for investment       667,766    615,649  

     Unearned income and net unamortized deferred fees and costs            1,042    996  

      Loans, net of unearned income and unamortized fees and costs       668,808    616,645  

      Allowance for credit losses          (9,284)    (8,831) 

              Net loans held for investment $      659,524   $ 607,814  

 

The Company elected to exclude accrued interest receivable from the amortized cost basis of loans held for 

investment throughout this footnote. Total accrued interest receivable for loans held for investment was $3.5 million 

and $2.4 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and is included in the accrued interest receivable 

line item on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 

 

To accommodate customers whose financing needs exceed the Bank’s lending limits, the Bank sells loan 

participations on a nonrecourse basis to outside financial institutions and derecognizes the portion of the loan 
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balance sold. The Bank retains the servicing rights of the participations sold. At December 31, 2023, and 2022, loan 

participations sold on a nonrecourse basis to outside financial institutions totaled $130.6 million and $123.7 million, 

respectively. 

 

Loans to Related Parties 

Note 22 to these consolidated financial statements includes information relating to loans to executive officers, 

directors, principal shareholders and associates of such persons. 

 

Loans Pledged as Collateral  

The table below present’s loans pledged as collateral to the FHLB, FRB, and the Bank of North Dakota as of 

December 31(in thousands): 

 

 2023  2022 

Commercial and industrial $ 67,767  $ 62,656  

Commercial real estate  125,828    115,779  

Loans held for sale-mortgage banking  -   35,879  

  Total $ 193,595  $  214,314  

 

NOTE 5. Allowance for Credit Losses 

 

Transactions in the allowance for credit losses were as follows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands): 

 
 

 2023 

 

Commercial 

and 

Industrial  
Commercial 

Real Estate  SBA  Consumer  

Land and 

Land 

Development  Construction  Total 

Balance, beginning 

of period $ 2,519   $              3,621   $              1,396   $              982   $              87   $              226   $                     8,831  

Cumulative effect- 

CECL adoption              511             (300)            (467)              (13)   

               

66               139               (64) 

Provision (credit)  420   47   140   308   16   (102)   829 

Loans charged off  (100)   -   (55)   (213)   -   -   (368) 

Loan recoveries  28   -   -   28   -   -   56 

Balance, end of 

period $ 3,378  $ 3,368  $ 1,014  $ 1,092  $ 169  $ 263  $ 9,284 

 

 2022 

 

Commercial 

and 

Industrial  
Commercial 

Real Estate  SBA  Consumer  

Land and 

Land 

Development  Construction  Total 

Balance, beginning 

of period $ 2,173  $ 4,129  $ 1,641  $ 836  $ 148  $ 153  $ 9,080 

Provision (credit)  346   (508)   (252)   272   (81)   73   (150) 

Loans charged off  -   -   -   (159)   -   -   (159) 

Loan recoveries  -   -   7   33   20   -   60 

Balance, end of 

period $ 2,519  $ 3,621  $ 1,396  $ 982  $ 87  $ 226  $ 8,831 

 

The Company recorded an $815 thousand provision for credit losses in 2023. A provision of $829 thousand was 

recorded as an allowance for loan losses and credit of $14 thousand was recorded as a reduction of allowance for 

unfunded commitments. At December 31, 2023, the Company maintained an allowance for unfunded commitments 

of $175 thousand. The allowance for unfunded commitments are included as part of the other liabilities line on the 

Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
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Impaired loans are loans on non-accrual status and troubled debt restructurings, which are individually evaluated 

for impairment, and other loans deemed to have similar risk characteristics. With the adoption of ASU 2016-13, 

Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, this disclosure is no longer a required after December 31, 

2022. 

 

The following table is provided for comparative purposes and shows the balance in the allowance for credit losses 

at December 31, 2022, and the related loan balances, segregated on the basis of impairment methodology (in 

thousands). 

 

 Allowance For Credit Losses  Gross Loans Held for Investment 

December 31, 2022 Impaired  Other  Total  Impaired  Other  Total 

Commercial and industrial $ -  $ 2,519  $ 2,519  $ 644  $ 204,785  $ 205,429 

Commercial real estate  -   3,621   3,621   -   230,243   230,243 

SBA  457   939   1,396   830   47,808   48,638 

Consumer  -   982   982   34   95,857   95,891 

Land and land development  -   87   87   -   10,758   10,758 

Construction  -   226   226   -   24,690   24,690 

  Total $ 457  $ 8,374  $ 8,831  $ 1,508  $ 614,141  $ 615,649 

 

Credit Quality Indicators 

The Company maintains an internal risk rating process in order to increase the precision and effectiveness of credit 

risk management. Loans are assigned one of the following four internally assigned grades: pass, watch list, 

substandard, and doubtful. The following are the definitions of the Company’s credit quality indicators: 

 

Pass. Loans designated as pass are not adversely rated, are contractually current as to principal and interest, 

and are otherwise in compliance with the contractual terms of the loan or lease agreement. Management 

believes that there is a low likelihood of loss related to those loans and leases that are considered Pass. 

 

Watch list. Loans designated as watch list are loans that possess some credit deficiency that deserves close 

attention due to emerging problems. Such loans pose unwarranted financial risk that, if left uncorrected, 

may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the asset or in the Bank’s credit position at some 

future date. 

 

Substandard. Loans graded as substandard or doubtful are considered “Classified” loans for regulatory 

purposes. Loans classified as substandard are loans that are generally inadequately protected by the current 

net worth and paying capacity of the obligor, or by the collateral pledged, if any. Loans classified as 

substandard have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the loan. 

Substandard loans are characterized by the distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain some loss if the 

deficiencies are not corrected. 

 

Doubtful. Loans classified as doubtful have the weaknesses of those classified as substandard, with 

additional characteristics that make collection in full on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions and 

values questionable, and there is a higher probability of loss. 
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The following presents by credit quality indicator, loan class, and year of origination, the amortized cost basis of 

the Company’s loans as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands): 

 Term Loans by Origination Year      
 

December 31, 2023 2023  2022  2021  2020  2019  Prior  

Revolving 

Loans  Total 

Commercial and industrial                        

Pass $ 29,495  $ 70,079  $ 26,465  $ 19,142  $ 7,516  $ 26,733  $ 32,913  $ 212,343 

Watch List  -   13   -   26   -   -   -   39 

Substandard  27   36   57   120   959   1,768   -   2,967 

Doubtful  -   573   -   -   133   -   -   706 

Total commercial and industrial $ 29,522  $ 70,701  $ 26,522  $ 19,288  $ 8,608  $ 28,501  $ 32,913  $ 216,055 

Commercial and industrial loans:                        

Current period gross write-offs: $ 29  $ -  $ 71  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 100 

                        
Commercial Real Estate                        

Pass $ 24,193  $ 53,823  $ 37,076  $ 18,672  $ 9,959  $ 88,948  $ 11,384  $ 244,055 

Watch List  -   -   1,884   -   -   -   -   1,884 

Substandard  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Doubtful  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Total commercial real estate $ 24,193  $ 53,823  $ 38,960  $ 18,672  $ 9,959  $ 88,948  $ 11,384  $ 245,939 

Commercial real estate:                        

Current period gross write-offs: $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 

                        
Small Business Administration                        

Pass $ 11,959  $ 19,165  $ 9,067  $ 1,874  $ 11,027  $ 8,034  $ 744  $ 61,870 

Watch List  -   192   -   192   86   -   -   470 

Substandard  -   517   -   -   -   205   -   722 

Doubtful  -   -   31   -   265   478   -   774 

Total small business 

administration $ 11,959  $ 19,874  $ 9,098  $ 2,066  $ 11,378  $ 8,717  $ 744  $ 63,836 

Small business administration 

loans:                        

Current period gross write-offs: $ 4  $ -  $ -  $ 51  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 55 

                        
Consumer                        

Pass $ 31,317  $ 32,557  $ 13,181  $ 9,639  $ 3,900  $ 6,332  $ 14,855  $ 111,781 

Watch List  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Substandard  -   14   22   29   -   26   -   91 

Doubtful  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Total consumer $ 31,317  $ 32,571  $ 13,203  $ 9,668  $ 3,900  $ 6,358  $ 14,855  $ 111,872 

Consumer loans:                        

Current period gross write-offs: $ 123  $ 31  $ 21  $ 1  $ -  $ 37  $ -  $ 213 

                        
Land and Land Development                        

Pass $ 2,665  $ 1,373  $ 1,629  $ 276  $ -  $ 219  $ 2,254  $ 8,416 

Watch List  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Substandard  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Doubtful  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Total land and land 

development $ 2,665  $ 1,373  $ 1,629  $ 276  $ -  $ 219  $ 2,254  $ 8,416 

Land and land development loans:                        

Current period gross write-offs: $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 

                        
Construction                        

Pass $ 2,593  $ 1,042  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 18,013  $ 21,648 

Watch List  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Substandard  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Doubtful  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Total Construction $ 2,593  $ 1,042  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 18,013  $ 21,648 

Construction loans:                        

Current period gross write-offs: $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 

                        
Total gross loans $ 102,249  $ 179,384  $ 89,412  $ 49,970  $ 33,845  $ 132,743  $ 80,163  $ 667,766 

                        
Total gross write-offs: $ 156  $ 31  $ 92  $ 52  $ -  $ 37  $ -  $ 368 
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The following presents by credit quality indicator and the amortized cost basis of the Company’s loans as of 

December 31, 2022 (in thousands): 

 

 December 31, 2022 

 Pass  Watch List  Substandard  Doubtful  

Total Loans 

Held for 

Investment 

Commercial and industrial $ 203,059  $ 238  $ 1,641  $ 491  $ 205,429 

Commercial real estate  228,309   1,934   -   -   230,243 

SBA  46,936   300   876   526   48,638 

Consumer  95,810   -   81   -   95,891 

Land and land development  10,758   -   -   -   10,758 

Construction  24,690   -   -   -   24,690 

Total gross loans $ 609,562  $ 2,472  $ 2,598  $ 1,017  $ 615,649 

 

 

Performing and non-accrual loans 

The Bank’s key credit quality indicator is a loan’s performance status, defined as accrual or non-accrual. Performing 

loans are considered to have a lower risk of loss and are on accrual status. Non-accrual loans include loans on which 

the accrual of interest has been discontinued. Accrual of interest is discontinued when the Bank believes that the 

borrower’s financial condition is such that the collection of interest is doubtful. A delinquent loan is generally 

placed on non-accrual status when it becomes 90 days or more past due unless the loan is well secured and in the 

process of collection. When a loan is placed on non-accrual status, accrued but uncollected interest income 

applicable to the current reporting period is reversed against interest income. Accrued but uncollected interest 

income applicable to previous reporting periods is charged against the allowance for credit losses. No additional 

interest is accrued on the loan balance until the collection of both principal and interest becomes reasonably certain. 

Delinquent balances are determined based on the contractual terms of the loan adjusted for charge-offs and 

payments applied to principal. 

 

  

26



BNCCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

 

 

The following table sets forth information regarding the Bank’s performing and non-accrual loans at December 31 

(in thousands): 

 2023 

 Current  
31-89 Days 

Past Due  

90 Days or 

More Past 

Due And 

Accruing  
Total 

Performing  Non-accrual  Total 

Commercial and industrial:                  

   Business loans $ 93,110  $ 2  $ -  $ 93,112  $ 837  $ 93,949 

   Agriculture  37,720   -   -   37,720   -   37,720 

   Owner-occupied commercial real 

estate  84,143   243   -   84,386   -   84,386 

Commercial real estate  245,939   -   -   245,939   -   245,939 

SBA  58,155   3,236   828   62,219   1,617   63,836 

Consumer:                  

   Automobile  9,488   50   -   9,538   -   9,538 

   Home equity  13,405   -   -   13,405   -   13,405 

   1st mortgage  26,427   1,051   -   27,478   -   27,478 

   Other  61,157   225   4   61,386   65   61,451 

Land and land development  8,416   -   -   8,416   -   8,416 

Construction  21,648   -   -   21,648   -   21,648 

   Total loans held for investment  659,608   4,807   832   665,247   2,519   667,766 

                  

      Total gross loans $ 659,608  $ 4,807  $ 832  $ 665,247  $ 2,519  $ 667,766 

 2022 

 Current  
31-89 Days 

Past Due  

90 Days or 

More Past 

Due And 

Accruing  
Total 

Performing  Non-accrual  Total 

Commercial and industrial:                  

   Business loans $ 95,844  $ 54  $ -  $ 95,898  $ 491  $ 96,389 

   Agriculture  30,850   -   -   30,850   -   30,850 

   Owner-occupied commercial real 

estate  78,190   -   -   78,190   -   78,190 

Commercial real estate  230,243   -   -   230,243   -   230,243 

SBA  47,757   52   -   47,809   829   48,638 

Consumer:                  

   Automobile  13,879   81   -   13,960   -   13,960 

   Home equity  13,555   -   -   13,555   -   13,555 

   1st mortgage  18,862   -   -   18,862   -   18,862 

   Other  49,434   45   1   49,480   34   49,514 

Land and land development  10,758   -   -   10,758   -   10,758 

Construction  24,690   -   -   24,690   -   24,690 

   Total loans held for investment  614,062   232   1   614,295   1,354   615,649 

                  

Loans held for sale  37,704   60   -   37,764   -   37,764 

                  

      Total gross loans $ 651,766  $ 292  $ 1  $ 652,059  $ 1,354  $ 653,413 
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The following table sets forth information on non-accrual loans as of December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022 

(in thousands): 
 

  December 31, 2023  
December 31, 

2022 

  

Non-accrual 

loans with a 

related ACL  

Non-accrual 

loans without a 

related ACL  
Total Non-

Accrual Loans  
Total Non-

Accrual Loans 

Commercial and industrial: Business loans  $                 837    $                      -    $                  837   $ 491 

SBA                 1,617                        -                  1,617    829 

Consumer: Other                     65                        -                      65    34 

Total  $               2,519   $                     -   $               2,519   $ 1,354 

 

The following table indicates the effect on interest income on loans if interest on non-accrual loans outstanding at 

year end had been recognized at original contractual rates during the year ended December 31 (in thousands): 

 
 2023  2022 

Interest income that would have been recorded $ 181  $ 151 

Interest income recorded  -   - 

Effect on interest income on loans $ 181  $ 151 

 

Impaired loans 
As identified in the recently issued or adopted accounting pronouncements and interpretations section, the Company 

adopted ASU No. 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, on January 1, 2023. As a result 

of adoption, the Company is no longer required to provide information on impaired loans. Information on impaired 

loans as of December 31, 2022 is being provided for comparative purposes.  

 

The following table summarizes impaired loans and related allowances as of and for the years ended December 31, 

2022 (in thousands): 
 

  2022 

  
Unpaid 

Principal  
Recorded 

Investment  
Related 

Allowance  

Average 

Recorded 

Balance  

Interest 

Income 

Recognized 

(12 months) 

Impaired loans with an allowance recorded:                

SBA  $ 661  $ 527  $ 457  $ 578  $ - 

  Total impaired loans with an allowance 

recorded  $ 661  $ 527  $ 457  $ 578  $ - 

                

Impaired loans without an allowance recorded:                

Commercial and industrial:                

   Business loans  $ 2,004  $ 491  $ -  $ 519  $ - 

   Owner-occupied commercial real estate   175   153   -   160   7 

SBA   450   303   -   324   - 

Consumer: Other   57   34   -   37   - 

  Total impaired loans without an allowance 

recorded  $ 2,686  $ 981  $ -  $ 1,040  $ 7 

TOTAL IMPAIRED LOANS  $ 3,347  $ 1,508  $ 457  $ 1,618  $ 7 
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Loan Modifications 

The Company adopted ASU No. 2022-02, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt 

Restructurings and Vintage Disclosures, on January 1, 2023. ASU 2022-02 requires the Company to evaluate all 

loan modifications under ASC 310-20-35-9 through 35-11 to determine whether a modification made to a borrower 

results in a new loan or a continuation of the existing loan.  

 

The Company individually evaluates all modification to loans where the borrower is experiencing financial 

difficulty. In cases where the modification is determined to be at least as favorable to the Company as the terms for 

comparable loans to other borrowers with similar risk characteristics the loan is considered a new origination. In 

the event the evaluation determines that the modification is not in-line with terms for comparable loans, the 

Company considers these loans to be a modified loan. These types of modifications generally take the form of 

principal forgiveness, interest rate reduction, other-than-insignificant payment delay, or a term extension. 

 

The following presents the amortized cost of loans to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty that were modified 

during 2023 by loan segment and modification type (in thousands): 
 

  For year ended December 31, 2023 

 

Term Extension 

and Payment 

Deferment (1)  

Term Extension, 

Payment 

Modification, 

Interest Rate 

Reduction (2)  
Payment 

Deferral (3)  Total  
Percentage of 

Total Loans 

Commercial and industrial $ 133  $ 57  $ -  $ 190  0.1 % 

SBA  1,791   -   3,103   4,894  0.7  

  Total $ 1,924  $ 57  $ 3,103  $ 5,084  0.8 % 

(1) Modifications extended term by seven months and deferred payments up to seven months. 

(2) Modifications extended term by twelve months, reduced payment, and reduced interest rate by 8.75%. 
(3) Modifications deferred payment by six months. 

 

Loan modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty in 2023 did not result in principal forgiveness. 

 

The following table sets forth information regarding the performing status of loans to borrowers experiencing 

financial difficulty at December 31, 2023 (in thousands): 
 

 As of December 31, 2023 

 Current  
31-89 Days 

Past Due  
90 Days or 

More Past Due 

 

 Total 

Commercial and industrial $ 57  $ 133  $ -  $ 190 

SBA  -   4,066   828   4,894 

  Total $ 57  $ 4,199  $ 828  $ 5,084 

 

Troubled Debt Restructuring (TDR) 

As identified in the recently issued or adopted accounting pronouncements and interpretations section, the Company 

adopted ASU No. 2022-02, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt Restructurings and 

Vintage Disclosures, on January 1, 2023. As a result of adoption, the Company is no longer required to provide 

information on troubled debt restructuring. Information on troubled debt restructuring as of December 31, 2022 is 

being provided for comparative purposes. 

 

TDRs are certain loans that have been modified in order to maximize collection of loan balances. If the Company, 

for legal or economic reasons related to the borrower’s financial difficulties, grants a concession that would not 

otherwise be considered, compared to the original terms and conditions of the loan, the modified loan is considered 

a troubled debt restructuring. 
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The table below summarizes the amounts of restructured loans as of December 31 (in thousands): 

 

  2022 

  Accrual  Non-accrual  Total  Allowance 

Commercial and industrial:             

   Business loans  $ -   $ 491   $ 491   $ -  

   Owner-occupied commercial real estate   153   -   153   - 

SBA   -    282    282    48  

  $ 153   $ 773   $ 926   $ 48  

 

NOTE 6. Premises and Equipment, net 
 

Premises and equipment, net consisted of the following at December 31 (in thousands): 

 

 2023  2022 

Land and improvements $          1,667   $ 1,667  

Buildings and improvements        15,896     15,861  

Leasehold improvements              307    440  

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment           9,091    9,883  

      Total cost        26,961    27,851  

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization      (16,006)   (16,087) 

      Net premises and equipment $       10,955   $ 11,764  

 

Depreciation and amortization expense totaled $1.1 million and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 

2023, and 2022, respectively. 

 

NOTE 7. Leases 
 

The Company has operating leases, primarily for office space, that expire over the next eight years. These leases 

generally contain renewal options for periods ranging from one to five years. The Company has evaluated each 

individual lease to determine if exercising the renewal option was reasonably certain and considered the renewal 

into determining the lease term and associated payments. The Company’s leases generally do not include 

termination options for either party to the lease or restrictive financial or other covenants. Payments due under the 

lease contracts include both fixed and variable payments. The variable payments are for the Company’s 

proportionate share of the building’s property taxes, insurance and common area maintenance. As most of the 

Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the 

information available at the lease commencement date in determining the present value of the lease payments. 

 

The components of lease cost for the years ended December 31 were as follows (in thousands): 

 

 2023  2022 

Operating lease cost $              586   $ 967 

Variable lease cost                 64    29 

Short-term lease cost                 11    38 

 $              661   $ 1,034 
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Amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, are as 

follows (in thousands): 

 

 As of  As of 

 December 31, 2023  December 31, 2022 

Operating lease right of use (ROU) asset $ 938  $ 1,521 

Operating lease liabilities  1,048   1,660 

 

Other supplementary information related to leases as of December 31, was as follows (dollars are in thousands): 
 

 2023  2022 

Cash paid for lease liabilities $            606   $ 1,006  

Amortization of ROU assets  566   788  

 

 

 As of  As of 

 December 31, 2023  December 31, 2022 

Weighted average remaining lease term  3.71 years   3.64 years 

Weighted average discount rate  5.79%   5.55% 

 

Maturities of lease liabilities under non-cancellable leases as of December 31, 2023, are as follows (in thousands): 

 

 Operating 

 Leases 

2024 $ 418 

2025  340 

2026  193 

2027  41 

2028  42 

Thereafter  125 

      Total future minimum lease payments  1,159 

Amounts representing interest  (111) 

      Total lease liabilities $ 1,048 

 

NOTE 8. Deposits 
 

The scheduled maturities of time deposits as of December 31, 2023, are as follows (in thousands): 

 

2024  $ 62,336 

2025   2,938 

2026   4,137 

2027   255 

2028   185 

Thereafter    55 

  $ 69,906 

 

At December 31, 2023, and 2022, the Bank had no time deposits that had been acquired through a traditional broker 

channel. The Company had no interest-bearing deposits that meet the regulatory definition of a brokered deposit as 

of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. 
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At December 31, 2023, and 2022, the Bank had $20.6 million and $14.9 million, respectively, in time deposits 

greater than $250 thousand. 

 

The following table shows a summary of interest expense by product type as of December 31 (in thousands): 

 
 

 
2023  2022 

Savings $  47  $  20 

Interest checking  4,166   382 

Money market  4,799   1,457 

Time deposits   937    304 

 $ 9,949  $ 2,163 

  

Deposits Received from Related Parties 

Note 22 to these consolidated financial statements includes information relating to deposits received from executive 

officers, directors, principal shareholders and associates of such persons. 

 

NOTE 9. Short-Term Borrowings  
 

The Company had no short-term borrowings (borrowings with an original maturity of less than one year) as of 

December 31, 2023.  The Company’s short-term borrowings as of December 31, 2022 consisted of customer 

repurchase agreements. The weighted average interest rate on short-term borrowings outstanding as of December 

31, 2022 was 0.30%. Short-term borrowings are included as other liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance 

sheets. 

 

Customer repurchase agreements are used by the Bank, from time to time, to acquire funds from customers where 

the customers are required, or desire, to have their funds supported by collateral consisting of U.S. government, 

U.S. government agency or other types of securities. The repurchase agreement is a promise to sell these securities 

to a customer at a certain price and repurchase them at a future date at that same price plus interest accrued at an 

agreed upon rate. The Bank uses customer repurchase agreements in its liquidity plan as well as an accommodation 

to customers. At December 31, 2022, the $103 thousand of securities sold under repurchase agreements, at an 

interest rate of 0.30%, was collateralized by a portion of a U.S. Treasury security having a fair value of $529 

thousand and unamortized principal balances of $589 thousand. 
 

 

NOTE 10. Federal Home Loan Bank Advances 
 

As of December 31, 2023, the Bank had no FHLB advances outstanding. At December 31, 2023, the Bank had 

loans with unamortized principal balances of approximately $190.4 million pledged as collateral to the FHLB. 
 

As of December 31, 2022, the Bank had no FHLB advances outstanding. At December 31, 2022, the Bank had 

loans with unamortized principal balances of approximately $211.0 million pledged as collateral to the FHLB. 

 

As of December 31, 2023, the Bank had the ability to draw advances up to approximately $121.2 million based 

upon the aggregate collateral that is currently pledged, subject to additional FHLB stock purchase requirement. 
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NOTE 11. Other Borrowings 
 

The following table presents selected information regarding other borrowings at December 31 (in thousands): 

 

2023 

Unsecured Borrowing Lines:  
           

    Line  Outstanding  Available 

BNC National Bank lines (1)  
   $ 34,500  $ -  $ 34,500 

 
 

           

Secured Borrowing Lines:  
           

  
Collateral 

Pledged  Line  Outstanding  Available 

BNC National Bank line  $ 3,249  $ 1,509  $ -  $ 1,509 

BNCCORP line   106,014   10,000   -   10,000 

      Total  $ 109,263  $ 11,509  $ -  $ 11,509 
(1) The unsecured BNC National Bank Lines consists of three separate lines with three institutions in individual amounts of $12.5 million, $12 

million, and $10 million. 

 

At December 31, 2023, the pledged collateral for the secured BNC National Bank line was comprised of commercial 

real estate loans and the pledged collateral for the secured BNCCORP line is the common stock of BNC National 

Bank. 

 

2022 

Unsecured Borrowing Lines:  
           

    Line  Outstanding  Available 

BNC National Bank lines (1)  
   $ 39,500  $ -  $ 39,500 

 
 

           

Secured Borrowing Lines:  
           

  
Collateral 

Pledged  Line  Outstanding  Available 

BNC National Bank line  $ 3,359  $ 1,675  $ -  $ 1,675 

BNCCORP line   96,959   10,000   -   10,000 

      Total  $ 100,318  $ 11,675  $ -  $ 11,675 
(1) The unsecured BNC National Bank Lines consists of four separate lines with three institutions in individual amounts of $12.5 million, $10 

million, $12 million, and $5 million. 

 

At December 31, 2022, the pledged collateral for the secured BNC National Bank line was comprised of commercial 

real estate loans and the pledged collateral for the secured BNCCORP line is the common stock of BNC National 

Bank. 

 

NOTE 12. Guaranteed Preferred Beneficial Interests in Company’s Subordinated 

Debentures 

 
In July 2007, the Company issued $15.5 million of floating rate subordinated debentures. During the third quarter 

of 2023 the index rate and spread converted from three-month LIBOR plus 1.40% to three-month SOFR plus 1.66%. 

The interest rate at December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, was 7.06% and 5.14%, respectively. The 

subordinated debentures mature on October 1, 2037. The subordinated debentures may be redeemed at par and the 

corresponding debentures may be prepaid at the option of BNCCORP, subject to approval by the Federal Reserve 

Board. 
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NOTE 13. Stockholders’ Equity 
 

Regulatory restrictions exist on the ability of the Bank to transfer funds to BNCCORP in the form of cash dividends. 

Approval of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC), the Bank’s principal regulator, is required for 

BNC National Bank to pay dividends to BNCCORP in excess of the Bank’s net profits from the current year plus 

retained net profits for the preceding two years. 

 

BNCCORP is required to consult with the Federal Reserve Board prior to declaring a cash dividend to stockholders. 

On May 3, 2022, BNCCORP’s Board of Directors declared a $1.75 per share special cash dividend that was paid 

on June 21, 2022.  

 

The Company currently has an outstanding 175,000 share repurchase authorization with no expiration date set on 

the authorization. Share repurchases can be made through open market purchases, unsolicited and solicited privately 

negotiated transactions, or in accordance with terms of Rule 10b-18 promulgated under the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934. The Company will not repurchase shares from directors or officers of the Company under the 

authorization. The Company will contemplate share repurchases subject to market conditions and other factors, 

including legal and regulatory restrictions and required approvals. No share repurchases have been made under the 

authorization as of December 31, 2023. 

 

NOTE 14. Regulatory Capital and Current Operating Environment 
 

BNCCORP and BNC National Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the 

federal banking agencies. Failure to meet capital requirements mandated by regulators can trigger certain mandatory 

and discretionary actions by regulators. Such actions, if undertaken, could have a direct material adverse effect on 

the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory 

framework for prompt corrective action, BNCCORP and BNC National Bank must meet specific capital guidelines 

that involve quantitative measures of their assets, liabilities and certain off-balance-sheet items as calculated under 

regulatory accounting practices. Regulators may also impose capital requirements that are specific to individual 

institutions. The requirements are generally above the statutory ratios. 

 

At December 31, 2023, the capital ratios exceeded all regulatory capital thresholds and maintained sufficient capital 

conservation buffers to avoid limitations on certain types of capital distributions. 
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The capital amounts and ratios presented below for December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, were as follows 

(dollars in thousands): 

 

 Actual  
For Capital Adequacy 

Purposes  To be Well Capitalized  
Amount in Excess of 

Well Capitalized 

 Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio 

2023                        

Total Risk-Based Capital:                        

      Consolidated $ 142,868  17.64 %  $ 64,806  ≥8.00 %  $ N/A  N/A %  $ N/A  N/A % 

      BNC National Bank  124,592  15.40    64,726  ≥8.00    80,908  10.00    43,684  5.40  

Tier 1 Risk-Based Capital:                        

      Consolidated  133,584  16.49    48,605  ≥6.00    N/A  N/A    N/A  N/A  

      BNC National Bank  115,308  14.25    48,545  ≥6.00    64,726  8.00    50,582  6.25  

Common Equity Tier 1 

Risk-Based Capital:                        

      Consolidated  118,120  14.58    36,453  ≥4.50    N/A  N/A    N/A  N/A  

      BNC National Bank  115,308  14.25    36,409  ≥4.50    52,590  6.50    62,718  7.75  

Tier 1 Leverage Capital:                        

      Consolidated  133,584  14.52    36,813  ≥4.00    N/A  N/A    N/A  N/A  

      BNC National Bank  115,308  12.54    36,778  ≥4.00    45,973  5.00    69,335  7.54  

Tangible Common Equity 
(to total assets): (a)                        

      Consolidated  108,329  11.19    N/A  N/A    N/A  N/A    N/A  N/A  

      BNC National Bank  105,926  10.96    N/A  N/A    N/A  N/A    N/A  N/A  

                        

 

 Actual  
For Capital Adequacy 

Purposes  To be Well Capitalized  
Amount in Excess of 

Well Capitalized 

 Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio 

2022                        

Total Risk-Based Capital:                        

      Consolidated $ 135,744  17.57 %  $ 61,814   ≥8.00 %  $  N/A   N/A %  $  N/A   N/A % 

      BNC National Bank  117,267  15.19    61,776   ≥8.00    77,219   10.00    40,048   5.19   

Tier 1 Risk-Based Capital:                        

      Consolidated  126,913  16.43    46,360   ≥6.00     N/A   N/A     N/A   N/A  

      BNC National Bank  108,436  14.04    46,332   ≥6.00    61,776   8.00    46,660   6.04   

 Common Equity Tier 1 

Risk-Based Capital:                        

      Consolidated   111,913  14.48    34,770   ≥4.50     N/A   N/A     N/A   N/A  

      BNC National Bank   108,436  14.04    34,749   ≥4.50    50,193   6.50    58,243   7.54   

Tier 1 Leverage Capital:                        

      Consolidated   126,913  13.99    36,279   ≥4.00     N/A   N/A     N/A   N/A  

      BNC National Bank   108,436  11.97    36,237   ≥4.00    45,297   5.00    63,139   6.97   

Tangible Common Equity 
(to total assets): (a)                        

      Consolidated  100,246  10.63     N/A    N/A      N/A    N/A      N/A    N/A   

      BNC National Bank   96,860  10.28     N/A    N/A      N/A    N/A      N/A    N/A   

(a) Tangible common equity is calculated by dividing common equity, less intangible assets, by total period end assets.  
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The most recent notifications from the OCC categorized the Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory 

framework for prompt corrective action. Management believes the Bank remains well capitalized through the date 

for which subsequent events have been evaluated. 

 

The Bank must adhere to various U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) regulatory 

guidelines including required minimum capital and liquidity to maintain their Federal Housing Administration 

approval status. Failure to comply with the HUD guidelines could result in withdrawal of this certification. As of 

December 31, 2023 and 2022 the Bank was in compliance with HUD guidelines. 

 

NOTE 15. Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 

The following table disaggregates non-interest income subject to ASC 606 (in thousands): 

 
 

 2023  2022 

      
    Service charges on deposits $                    649   $ 668  

    Bankcard fees                 1,162    1,123  

    Bank charges and service fees not within scope of ASC 606                 1,804    1,928  

        Total bank charges and service fees                 3,615    3,719  

      
    Wealth management revenue                 1,948    1,981  

    Wealth management revenue not within the scope of ASC 606                          -    -  

        Total wealth management revenues                 1,948    1,981  

      
    Other                       44    44  

    Other not within the scope of ASC 606 (a)                     598    1,663  

        Total other                     642    1,707  

      
    Other non-interest income not within the scope of ASC 606 (a)                 3,799    11,721  

                Total non-interest income $              10,004   $ 19,128  

      
(a) This revenue is not within the scope of ASC 606, and includes fees related to mortgage banking operations, gains on sale of loans, net gains on sale 

of debt securities, revenue from investments in SBIC, and various other transactions. 

 

The Company had no material contract assets or remaining performance obligations as of December 31, 2023. Total 

receivables from revenue recognized under the scope of ASC 606 were $492 thousand and $478 thousand as of 

December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively. These receivables are included as part of the Other assets 

line on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
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NOTE 16. Fair Value Measurements 
 

The following table summarizes the financial assets and liabilities of the Company for which fair values are 

determined on a recurring basis as of December 31 (in thousands): 

 

 Carrying Value at December 31, 2023  

Twelve Months 

Ended 

December 31, 2023 

 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Total 

Gains/(Losses) 

ASSETS               

Debt securities available for sale $ 159,772  $ 24,880  $ 134,892  $ -  $ 12 

Loans held for sale  -   -   -   -   (52) 

Commitments to originate mortgage loans  -   -   -   -   57 

Commitments to sell mortgage loans  -   -   -   -   (434) 

Mortgage banking short positions  -   -   -   -   (32) 

  Total assets at fair value $ 159,772  $ 24,880  $ 134,892  $ -  $ (449) 

 

 Carrying Value at December 31, 2022  

Twelve Months 

Ended 

December 31, 2022 

 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Total 

Gains/(Losses) 

ASSETS               

Debt securities available for sale $ 174,876  $ 18,036  $ 156,840  $ -  $ - 

Loans held for sale  37,764   -   37,764   -   (1,592) 

Commitments to originate mortgage loans  205   -   205   -   (1,534) 

Commitments to sell mortgage loans  32   -   32   -   20 

Mortgage banking short positions  434   -   434   -   437 

  Total assets at fair value $ 213,311  $ 18,036  $ 195,275  $ -  $ (2,669) 

 

The Company sells short positions in mortgage-backed securities to manage interest rate risk on the loans committed 

for mandatory delivery. The commitments to originate and sell mortgage banking loans and the short positions are 

derivatives and are recorded at fair value. 
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NOTE 17. Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
 

The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are as follows as of December 31 (in thousands): 

 

  Level in  

Fair Value 

Measurement 

Hierarchy 

 December 31, 2023  December 31, 2022 

   
Carrying 

 Amount  
Fair 

Value  
Carrying 

 Amount  
Fair 

Value 

Assets:               

       Cash and cash equivalents   Level 1  $ 102,454  $ 102,454  $ 73,968  $ 73,968 

       Federal Reserve Bank and Federal 

Home Loan Bank stock             Level 2   2,372   2,372   3,063   3,063 

       Gross loans held for investment  Level 2   667,766   654,919   614,668   597,644 

       Gross loans held for investment (a)  Level 3   -   -   981   674 

       Accrued interest receivable   Level 2   4,206   4,206   3,312   3,312 

    $ 776,798  $ 763,951  $ 695,992  $ 678,661 

               

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity:               

       Deposits, noninterest-bearing   Level 2  $ 184,442  $ 184,442  $ 207,232   $  207,232 

       Deposits, interest-bearing   Level 2   652,761   651,581   612,352   610,000 

       Accrued interest payable  Level 2   937   937   312   312 

       Guaranteed preferred beneficial 

interests in Company’s 

subordinated debentures   Level 2   15,464   12,678   15,000   12,760 

    $ 853,604  $ 849,638  $ 834,896   $  830,304 

               

Financial instruments with off-balance-

sheet risk:               

       Commitments to extend credit   Level 2  $ -  $ 224  $ -    $  339  

       Standby and commercial letters of 

credit    Level 2  $ -  $ 30  $ -    $  

               

25  

(a) Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, on January 1, 2023. As a result of adoption, the 

Company no longer reports impaired loans. Information on impaired loans as of December 31, 2022 is being provided for comparative purposes. 

 

The Company discloses the estimated fair value of financial instruments as it is useful to the reader of financial 

statements. Fair value estimates are subjective in nature, involving uncertainties and matters of significant judgment, 

and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates. 
 

NOTE 18. Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk 
 

In the normal course of business, the Company is a party to various financial instruments with off-balance-sheet 

risk, primarily to meet the needs of customers as well as to manage interest rate risk. These instruments, which are 

issued by the Company for purposes other than trading, carry varying degrees of credit, interest rate or liquidity risk 

in excess of the amounts reflected in the consolidated balance sheets. 

 

Commitments to Extend Credit 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer, which are binding, provided there is no 

violation of any condition in the contract, and generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses. 

The contractual amount represents the Bank’s exposure to credit losses in the event of default by the borrower. The 

Bank manages this credit risk by using the same credit policies it applies to loans. Collateral is obtained to secure 

commitments based on management’s credit assessment of the borrower. The collateral may include marketable 

securities, receivables, inventory, equipment or real estate. Since the Bank expects many of the commitments to 

expire without being drawn, total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent the Bank’s future liquidity 

requirements related to such commitments. 
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In mortgage banking operations, the Bank commits to extend credit for purposes of originating residential loans. 

The Bank underwrites these commitments to determine whether each loan meets criteria established by the 

secondary market for residential loans. See Notes 1 and 16 to these consolidated financial statements for more 

information on financial instruments and derivatives related to mortgage banking operations. 

 

Standby and Commercial Letters of Credit 

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a 

customer to a third party. Commercial letters of credit are issued on behalf of customers to ensure payment or 

collection in connection with trade transactions. In the event of a customer’s nonperformance, the Bank’s credit 

loss exposure is up to the letter’s contractual amount. At December 31, 2023, based on current information, no 

losses were anticipated as a result of these commitments. Management assesses the borrower’s creditworthiness to 

determine the necessary collateral, which may include marketable securities, real estate, accounts receivable and 

inventory. Since the conditions requiring the Bank to fund letters of credit may not occur, the Bank expects the 

liquidity requirements related to such letters of credit to be less than the total outstanding commitments. 

 

The contractual amounts of these financial instruments were as follows as of December 31 (in thousands): 
 

 2023  2022 

 Fixed  Variable  Fixed  Variable 

 Rate  Rate  Rate  Rate 

Commitments to extend credit $       27,119    $        89,476   $ 16,071   $ 108,704  

Standby and commercial letters of credit             659             1,798    394    1,311  

 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company did not have any mortgage banking commitments to fund and sell loans. 

In addition to the amounts in the table above, the Company had mortgage banking commitments to fund loans of 

$61.6 million and mortgage banking commitments to sell loans of $99.4 million at December 31, 2022. 

 

Performance and Financial Standby Letters of Credit 

As of December 31, 2023, the Bank had no performance standby letters of credit and $372 thousand of financial 

standby letters of credit compared to $192 thousand of performance standby letters of credit and $589 thousand of 

financial standby letters of credit as of December 31, 2022. Performance standby letters of credit are irrevocable 

obligations to the beneficiary on the part of the Bank to make payment on account in an event of default by the 

account party in the performance of a nonfinancial or commercial obligation. Financial standby letters of credit are 

irrevocable obligations to the beneficiary on the part of the Bank to repay money for the account of the account 

party or to make payment on account of any indebtedness undertaken by the account party, in the event that the 

account party fails to fulfill its obligation to the beneficiary. Under these arrangements, the Bank could, in the event 

of the account party’s nonperformance, be required to pay a maximum of the amount of issued letters of credit. The 

Bank has recourse against the account party up to and including the amount of the performance standby letter of 

credit. The Bank evaluates each account party’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis and the amount of 

collateral obtained varies and is based on management’s credit evaluation of the account party. 
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Mortgage Banking Obligations 

Through its mortgage banking operations, the Company originates and sells residential mortgage loans with 

servicing released to third parties. These loans are sold without recourse to the Company. Although the Company 

sells mortgage banking loans without recourse, industry standards require standard representations and warranties 

which require sellers to reimburse investors for economic losses if loans default or prepay after the sale. Repurchase 

risk is also present within the mortgage banking industry as continued disputes arise between lenders and 

investors. Such requests for repurchase are commonly due to faulty representation and generally emerge at varied 

timeframes subsequent to the original sale of the loan. To estimate the contingent obligation, the Company tracks 

historical reimbursements and calculates the ratio of reimbursement to loan production volumes. Using 

reimbursement ratios and recent production levels, the Company estimates the future reimbursement amounts and 

records the estimated obligation.  

 

The following is a summary of activity related to mortgage banking reimbursement obligations at December 31 (in 

thousands): 

 

 2023  2022 

Balance, beginning of period $ 656  $ 820 

Provision  91   375 

Write offs, net  (103)   (539) 

Balance, end of period $ 644  $ 656 

 

NOTE 19. Commitments and Contingencies 
 

Small Business Investment Companies (SBIC) 

The Bank has made investments in the Small Business Administration’s SBIC program to enhance small business 

access to venture capital. At December 31, 2023, the Bank may be required to fund $705 thousand of additional 

capital calls related to its SBIC investments. 

 

Legal Proceedings  

From time to time, the Company may be a party to legal proceedings arising from lending, deposit operations or 

other activities. While the Company is not aware of any such actions or allegations that should reasonably give rise 

to any material adverse effect, it is possible that the Company could be subject to such a claim in an amount that 

could be material. Based upon a review with legal counsel, the Company believes that the ultimate disposition of 

any such litigation will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or 

cash flows. 

 

NOTE 20. Income Taxes 
 

Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following for the years ended December 31 (in thousands): 

 

 2023  2022 

   Current:      

      Federal $  1,363  $  945 

      State   324    250 

   1,687    1,195 

   Deferred:      

      Federal  (56)   608 

      State   (20)    26 

   (76)    634 

      Total $  1,611  $  1,829 
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The reconciliation between income tax expense computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate of 21.0% 

is as follows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands): 

 

 2023  2022 

Statutory federal income tax expense $  1,536  $  1,749 

State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit  219   230 

Tax-exempt interest income  (58)   (83) 

Tax-exempt life insurance  (99)   (93) 

Other, net   13    26 

Total $  1,611  $  1,829 

 

Deferred tax assets are included in other assets on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Temporary 

differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities that result in 

significant portions of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows as of December 31 (in 

thousands): 
 

 2023  2022 

Deferred tax assets:      

      Loans, primarily due to credit losses $ 2,443  $ 2,281 

      Compensation  574   591 

      Unrealized loss on debt securities available for sale  3,571   4,287 

      Acquired intangibles  121   121 

      Net operating loss carryforwards  -   8 

      Other  216   222 

           Deferred tax assets  6,925   7,510 

Deferred tax liabilities:      

      Discount accretion on securities  170   53 

      Premises and equipment  57   223 

      Other  625   585 

           Deferred tax liabilities  852   861 

  6,073   6,649 

           Valuation allowance  (14)   (14) 

                Net deferred tax assets $ 6,059  $ 6,635 

 

Subject to certain limiting statutes, the Company is able to carry forward state tax net operating losses aggregating 

$19 thousand as of December 31, 2023. The state net operating losses expire between 2024 and 2031. 

 

Tax years ended December 31, 2020 through 2023 remain open to federal examination. Tax years ended December 

31, 2019 through 2023 remain open to certain state examinations. 

 

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax 

position will be sustained on examination by taxing authorities, based upon the technical merits of the position. The 

tax benefit recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such a position would be measured based on 

the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Also, interest 

and penalties expense would be recognized on the full amount of deferred benefits for uncertain tax positions. The 

Company’s policy is to include interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense 

within the consolidated statements of income. At December 31, 2023, and 2022, the Company did not have any 

uncertain tax positions. 
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NOTE 21. Earnings Per Share 
 

The following table shows the amounts used in computing per share results (in thousands, except share and per 

share data): 

 

 2023  2022 

Denominator for basic earnings per share:      

    Average common shares outstanding  3,577,421   3,573,934 

    Dilutive effect of share-based compensation             2,818    930  

    Denominator for diluted earnings per share   3,580,239   3,574,864 

      

Numerator (in thousands):      

     Net income $            5,705   $ 6,500  

Basic earnings per common share $              1.59   $ 1.82  

Diluted earnings per common share $              1.59   $ 1.82  

 

NOTE 22. Related-Party Transactions 
 

The Bank has entered into transactions with related parties, such as opening deposit accounts for and extending 

credit to employees of the Company. The related-party transactions have been made under terms substantially the 

same as those offered by the Bank to unrelated parties. 

 

In the normal course of business, loans are granted to, and deposits are received from, executive officers, directors, 

principal stockholders and associates of such persons. The aggregate dollar amount of these loans was $450 

thousand and $543 thousand at December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. Advances and other increases of loans 

to related parties in 2023 and 2022 totaled $101 thousand and $323 thousand, respectively. Loan pay downs and 

other reductions by related-parties in 2023 and 2022 were $194 thousand and $256 thousand, respectively. 

Commitments to extend credit to related parties increased to $180 thousand at December 31, 2023, from $137 

thousand at December 31, 2022. The total amount of deposits received from these parties was $1.8 million at 

December 31, 2023, and $1.4 million at December 31, 2022. Loans to, and deposits received from, these parties 

were made on substantially the same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time 

for comparable transactions with unrelated persons and do not involve more than the normal risk of collection. 

 

The Federal Reserve Act limits amounts of, and requires collateral on, extensions of credit by the Bank to 

BNCCORP, and with certain exceptions, its non-bank affiliates. There are also restrictions on the amounts of 

investment by the Bank in stocks and other subsidiaries of BNCCORP and such affiliates and restrictions on the 

acceptance of their securities as collateral for loans by the Bank. As of December 31, 2023, BNCCORP and its 

affiliates were in compliance with these requirements. 

 

NOTE 23. Benefit Plans 
 

BNCCORP has a qualified 401(k) savings plan covering all employees of BNCCORP and subsidiaries who meet 

specified age and service requirements. Under the plan, eligible employees may elect to defer up to 75% of 

compensation each year not to exceed the dollar limits set by law. At their discretion, BNCCORP and its subsidiaries 

may provide matching contributions to the plan. In 2023 and 2022, BNCCORP and subsidiaries made matching 

contributions of up to 50% of eligible employee deferrals up to a maximum employer contribution of 5% of 

employee compensation. Generally, all participant contributions and earnings are fully and immediately vested. The 

Company makes its matching contribution during the first calendar quarter following the last day of each calendar 
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year and an employee must be employed by the Company on the last day of the calendar year in order to receive 

the current year’s employer matching contribution. The anticipated matching contribution is expensed monthly over 

the course of the calendar year based on employee contributions made throughout the year. The Company made 

matching contributions of $468 thousand and $701 thousand for 2023 and 2022, respectively. Under the investment 

options available under the 401(k) savings plan, prior to January 28, 2008, employees could elect to invest their 

salary deferrals in BNCCORP common stock. At December 31, 2023, the assets in the plan totaled $37.6 million 

and included $641 thousand (22,496 shares) invested in BNCCORP common stock. At December 31, 2022, the 

assets in the plan totaled $38.3 million and included $677 thousand (22,744 shares) invested in BNCCORP common 

stock. On January 28, 2008, the Company voluntarily delisted from the NASDAQ Global Market and deregistered 

its common stock under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (as amended). As a result, the participants are 

prohibited from making new investments of the Company’s common stock in the plan. 

 

During 2015, the Company adopted a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for the benefit of select employees.  

The plan structure permits the Company to make discretionary awards into an in-service account or a retirement 

account of a plan participant established under the plan. The Company recognizes the expense for discretionary 

awards in the period it commits to such awards. Additionally, plan participants may defer some or all of their annual 

cash incentive awards into their in-service accounts. Company discretionary awards to the participant’s in-service 

account are generally vested 50% upon initial participation with the remainder vesting ratably over 5 years. A 

participant’s retirement account generally vests 50% upon an initial contribution and ratably thereafter over 10 

years. Participants may allocate their in-service account balance among a fixed number of investment options. The 

value of the payout from the in-service account will depend on the performance of such investment options. 

Company discretionary awards into a participant’s retirement account are denominated in shares of BNCCORP 

common stock and upon retirement, the plan participant will receive the number of shares of BNCCORP common 

stock credited to the participant’s retirement account at that time. A separate Rabbi Trust has been established by 

the Company to offset the change in value of this liability. Assets in the trust offsetting in-service liabilities are 

recorded in other assets. BNCCORP common stock held in the trust related to the Company’s retirement account 

obligation is recorded in treasury stock and equates to 19,069 and 19,982 shares as of December 31, 2023, and 

2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the plan obligation totaled $1.1 million and $1.0 million as of 

December 31, 2022. 

 

In December of 2015, the Company adopted a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for directors of 

BNCCORP. Effective with 2016 service, a director may voluntarily make contributions of earned director 

compensation to a deferred account that is ultimately payable with BNCCORP common stock at the time of 

separation from service with the Company. The deferred shares of BNCCORP common stock were 28,232 shares 

and 25,488 shares as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. 

 

NOTE 24. Share-Based Compensation 
 

The Company has two share-based plans for certain key employees and directors whereby shares of BNCCORP 

common stock have been reserved for awards in the form of stock options, restricted stock, or common stock 

equivalent awards. Pursuant to each plan, the compensation committee may grant options at prices equal to the fair 

value of BNCCORP common stock at the grant date. The Company generally issues shares held in treasury when 

options are exercised and restricted stock is granted. 

 

Total shares in plan and total shares available as of December 31, 2023, are as follows: 

 

 1995  2015  Total 

Total shares in plan 250,000  50,000  300,000 

Total shares available 40,951  19,482  60,433 

 

The Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $78 thousand and $76 thousand for the years ended 

December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively, related to grants of restricted stock. 
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The tax benefits associated with share-based compensation was approximately $2 thousand for the year ended 

December 31, 2023, and was approximately $2 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

 

At December 31, 2023, the Company had $164 thousand of unamortized restricted stock compensation, which is 

expected to be recognized over a period of four years. Restricted shares of stock granted have vesting and 

amortization periods of up to four years. 

 

Following is a summary of restricted stock activities for the years ended December 31: 

 
 2023  2022 

 Number  Weighted  Number  Weighted 
 Restricted  Average  Restricted  Average 

 Stock  Grant Date  Stock  Grant Date 

 Shares  Fair Value  Shares  Fair Value 

Non-vested, beginning of year  5,500  $ 39.91   5,750  $ 39.68 

Granted  5,000   23.10   -   - 

Vested  (250)   34.77   (250)   34.77 

Forfeited   -   -    -   - 

Non-vested, end of year   10,250   31.83   5,500   39.91 

 

Following is a summary of stock grants to directors for the years ended December 31: 
 

 2023  2022 

 Number of  Grant Date  Number of  Grant Date 
 Shares  Fair Value  Shares  Fair Value 

Shares granted  2,000  $ 30.97   2,400  $ 36.28 

 

NOTE 25. Segment Reporting 
 

The Company determines reportable segments based on the way that management organizes the segments within 

the Company for making operating decisions, allocating resources, and assessing performance. The Company has 

determined that it has three reportable segments: Community Banking, Mortgage Banking, and Holding Company. 
 

Community Banking 

The Community Banking segment serves the needs of businesses and consumers through 11 locations in North 

Dakota, and Arizona. Within this segment, the following products and services are provided: business and personal 

loans, commercial real estate loans, SBA loans, business and personal checking, savings products, and cash 

management, as well as trust and wealth management services and retirement plan administration. These products 

and services are supported through web and mobile based applications. Revenues for community banking consist 

primarily of interest earned on loans and debt securities, bankcard fees, loan fees, services charges on deposits, and 

fees for wealth management services. 
 

Mortgage Banking 

The Mortgage Banking segment originates residential mortgage loans for the primary purpose of sale on the 

secondary market. The segment consists of both a consumer direct channel located in Kansas utilizing internet leads 

and a call center to originate residential mortgage loans throughout the United States complemented by a 

relationship based retail channels. Revenues for mortgage banking consist primarily of interest earned on mortgage 

loans held for sale, gains on sales of loans, unrealized gains or losses on mortgage financial instruments, and loan 

origination fees. On April 12, 2023, the Company announced it entered into a definitive agreement with First Federal 

Bank under which First Federal will purchase certain operating assets and assume certain liabilities of BNC National 

Bank’s mortgage division. On June 16, 2023, the Company executed the sale and sold its portfolio of mortgage 

loans held for sale. 
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Holding Company 
The Holding Company segment represents BNCCORP, the parent company of BNC National Bank. Revenue for 

the Holding Company segment primarily consists of interest earned on cash and cash equivalents and management 

fees charged to the Community Banking and Mortgage Banking segments for management services. Interest 

expense for the Holding Company segment consists of interest expense on the Company’s subordinated debentures. 

Non-interest expense for the segment includes parent company costs for certain centralized functions such as 

corporate administration, accounting, audit, consulting, and governance. 

 

The Company’s operating segments are presented based on its management structure and management accounting 

practices. The structure and practices are specific to the Company and therefore, the financial results of the 

Company’s business segments are not necessarily comparable with similar information for other financial 

institutions. 

 

 2023 

 Community  Mortgage  Holding  Intercompany  BNCCORP 

 Banking  Banking  Company  Eliminations (1)  Consolidated 

Interest income $ 42,709  $ 1,514  $ 139  $ (1,084)  $ 43,278 

Interest expense  10,092   946   1,014   (1,084)   10,968 

Net interest income (expense)  32,617   568   (875)   -   32,310 

Provision for credit losses  815   -   -   -   815 

Net interest income (expense) after 

credit for credit losses  31,802   568   (875)   -   31,495 

Non-interest income  7,354   3,641   2,134   (3,125)   10,004 

Non-interest expense  25,590   8,768   2,950   (3,125)   34,183 

Income (loss) before income taxes  13,566   (4,559)   (1,691)   -   7,316 

Income tax expense (benefit)  3,181   (1,131)   (439)   -   1,611 

Net income (loss) $ 10,385  $ (3,428)  $ (1,252)  $ -  $ 5,705 

               

Total Assets at December 31, 2023 $ 966,807  $ -  $ 19,138  $ (17,740)  $ 968,205 
               

 2022 

 Community  Mortgage  Holding  Intercompany  BNCCORP 

 Banking  Banking  Company  Eliminations (1)  Consolidated 

Interest income $ 32,099  $ 2,054  $ 14  $ (554)  $ 33,613 

Interest expense  2,180   540   489   (554)   2,655 

Net interest income (expense)  29,919   1,514   (475)   -   30,958 

Credit for credit losses  (150)   -   -   -   (150) 

Net interest income (expense) after 

provision for credit losses  30,069   1,514   (475)   -   31,108 

Non-interest income  9,696   11,446   2,210   (4,224)   19,128 

Non-interest expense  24,598   18,615   2,918   (4,224)   41,907 

Income (loss) before income taxes  15,167   (5,655)   (1,183)   -   8,329 

Income tax expense (benefit)  3,515   (1,402)   (284)   -   1,829 

Net income (loss) $ 11,652  $ (4,253)  $ (899)  $ -  $ 6,500 

               

Total Assets at December 31, 2022 $ 

            

902,967   $ 

               

39,471   $ 

               

19,564   $ 

             

(18,681)  $ 

            

943,321  
               

(1)    Intercompany eliminations remove internal shared service costs for intercompany use of funds to originate mortgage loans held for sale and costs 

related to internal services rendered to segments by centralized function of the Company such as administration, audit, accounting, compliance, 

governance, consulting, and technology expense. 
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NOTE 26. Condensed Financial Information-Parent Company Only 
 

Condensed financial information of BNCCORP, INC. on a parent company only basis is as follows: 

 

Parent Company Only 

Condensed Balance Sheets 

As of December 31, 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

 

 2023  2022 

Assets:      

     Cash and cash equivalents $  17,625  $  18,708 

     Investment in subsidiaries  105,565   96,510 

     Receivable from subsidiaries  560   405 

     Other  495   455 

Total assets $  124,245  $  116,078 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity:      

     Subordinated debentures $  15,464  $  15,000 

     Payable to subsidiaries  60   72 

     Accrued expenses and other liabilities  303   660 

Total liabilities  15,827    15,732 

Common stock, $.01 par value – Authorized 11,300,000 shares; 3,569,210 and 

3,559,334 shares issued and outstanding  36   36 

Capital surplus – common stock  26,572   26,399 

Retained earnings  93,186   87,575 

Treasury stock (99,443 and 109,319 shares, respectively)  (1,528)   (1,622) 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, net  (9,848)   (12,042) 

              Total stockholders’ equity   108,418    100,346 

              Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $  124,245  $  116,078 
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Parent Company Only 

Condensed Statements of Income 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

(In thousands) 

 

 2023  2022 

Income:      

     Management fee income $  2,123  $  2,196  

     Interest  139   14  

     Other  43   29  

           Total income  2,305   2,239  

Expenses:      

     Interest  1,045   504  

     Salaries and benefits  1,156   1,142  

     Legal and other professional  823   791  

     Other  971   985  

           Total expenses  3,995    3,422  

Loss before income tax benefit and equity in earnings of subsidiaries  (1,690)    (1,183) 

Income tax benefit  439   284  

Loss before equity in earnings of subsidiaries  (1,251)    (899) 

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries  6,956   7,399  

           Net income $ 5,705  $ 6,500  
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Parent Company Only 

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

(In thousands) 

 

 2023  2022 

Operating activities:      

      Net income $        5,705   $  6,500 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 

activities -      

            Equity in earnings of subsidiaries      (6,956)   (7,399) 

            Dividend received from subsidiaries  -   13,500  

            Share-based compensation           267    359  

            Change in other assets         (195)   (58) 

            Change in other liabilities              96    377  

                  Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities      (1,083)   13,279 

Financing activities:      

            Dividends paid on common stock  -   (6,303) 

                  Net cash used in financing activities  -   (6,303) 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (1,083)   6,976  

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  18,708   11,732  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 17,625  $ 18,708  

       

Supplemental cash flow information:      

      Interest paid $ 969  $ 362  

      Income taxes paid $ 1,269  $ 406  
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